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CIVIL ACTION NO. 10-11822RGS
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, STATES OF CALIFORNIA,
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September 302014
STEARNS, J.

In this now threeyearold qui tam action,plaintiff/relator Jeffrey
D'Agostino, a former medical device salesmdor defendant EV3, Ing.
allegesthat EV3, Micro Therapeutics, Inc.(MTI), John Hardinand Brett
Wall violatedthefederalFalse Claims Act (FCAB1U.S.C. § 372@t seq., as

well as the False Claims Astof twentysix states and the District of
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Columbial According to theThird Amended ComplaintT{AC), defendants
knowingly causedthe submission ofalse claimsfor reimbursementn
violation of FCA 8§ 3729(a)(1)(A)(Count I), andknowingly made, or caused
to be made, false records or statements that weatemal tothe false
reimbursementlaimsin violation of FCA§ 3729(a)(1)(BXCount I1), all the
while conspiringto commit thesectsin violation of FCA § 3729a)(1)(C)
(CountlV). TheTAC makes parallel allegations under the various saaie
District of Columbia analogs to the FCA (CountsX¥XXl) .2 For reasons
that will be explained, efendants motions to dismiss the TAC with
prejudicewill be allowed.
BACKGROUND

EV3 manufactureshe twomedicaldevices implicated in th€AC, the

Onyx Liquid Embolic System (Onyx) anthe Axium Detadchable Coil

System (Axium). Both Onyx andAxium were developed by M (which

1 D'Agostino also alleged violations of 31 U.S.C. §237a)(1)(G)
(Count Il of the Third Amended Complaint). D’Agiso voluntarily
dismissed this Count on August 1, 2014, withoutjpdéee, in the body of
his “Consolidated Opposition to the Defendants’ Motiotts Dismiss
(Consolidated Opposition or Oppn).

2 Excep in the case of Louisiana where only the makingcausing
the making of false claimis alleged in the TAC.



later mergedwith EV3).3 Defendant Brett Wall held executivsales and
marketing positions at EV3, MTI, Boston Scientific, and Comsd (the
current parent company of EV3). Wall waactively involved in the
marketing of Onyx and Axium. Defendant John Hardvas the Vice
President of Sales and Global Marketing for OraxEV3#4 D’Agostino
served asthe Territory Manager for EV3in the eastern United States
between 2005 and 2010
A. Onyx

Onyx is a synthetic liquid thawvhenintroduced byacatheterforms a
solid mass (embolus) insicepatientblocking the flow ofblood. The FDA
approvedOnyx in July of 2005for use inthe presurgicaltreatment of a
vascular defect in thérain known asbrain arteriovenous malformation
(BAVM). The market fothe on-abeluse of Onyx isvery small; there are
only an estimated 3,0008ases ofBAVM treated annually in the United
States.

1. Misleadingthe FDA in the Onyx Approval Process

3MTI developed Onyx and shepherded the device thihdulQA (Food
and Drug Administrationppproval. MTI was also the prime developer of
Axium. After the merger, EV3assumedthe responsibility for obtaining
FDA approval to market Axium.

4The TAC alleges with scantfactual elaboration) that Hardin and
Wall bore responsibility for the othbel promotion of Onyx and the failure
to initiate recd s of several iterations of allegedly defective Axium dms.



In broad termsD’Agostino alleges thatMTIl misled the FDAduring
the Onyx approval process/ proposingan overlynarrow indicationfor its
use while concealinghe truescope of itamarketingstrategy andfailing to
report relevant afety information. D’Agostinallegesthat, but for MTI’'s
fraud, Onyx wouldnot have been approvdor any useby the FDA

The factual allegationsdistilled from the legal conclusions in which
they are embedded, are as follotwsAccording tothe TAC, the FDA
advisory panel appointed to reviethe safety and efficacy oDnyx
expressed concerthat the device(despite MTI's assuranceshight be
marketedfor the offlabeltreatmentof other types oWvasculardiseaseor
might be left permanently in th2AVM patientif follow-up surgery was not
performed® In response tdhe panel'sreservationsthe TAC alleges that

MTI gave false assurancdsat it would institute a program to train

5Factual allegationsvill be attributed to the TAC; legal conclusions
and arguments directly to D’Agostino.

6 An FDA medical device advisory panel gathers infatron and
opinions from medical experts, the applicant, and otherrasted parties.
It makes its recommendations regarding the devmethte Center for
Devices and Radiological Health, which is the ulite FDA approving
authority. The panel's recommendations are notwbig on the FDA (or
the applicant), unless they are incorporated asditams in the FDA
approval to market the device.



surgeons in the properse ofOnyx” The TACallegesthatwhen EV3 later
sought to expand the scope of tRBAs approvalto include the use of
Onyx in the treatment of vascular defects in tthee periphery’(that is in
the vasculature outside the brain or below the hettke FDA deniedhe
request because of insufficient supporting medical evidence
Notwithstanding the FDAgsefusal MTI (and EV3) continued to promote
the use of Onyx for peripheral indications antkeurointerventional
indicationsotherthan thepresurgical treatment of BAVM.

At some pointMTI licensed theright to fabricate thdéiquid material
from which Onyx ismanufacturedo EntericMedical Technologiesinc,

another medical devisecompany. After acquiring EntericBoston

"D’Agostino alleges that MTIl undertook to traall physicians who
used Onyx; however, the relevant transcript passageoducd in the TAC
IS more nuanced and states only that “the objectifethe physician
education program is to ensure thatpatticipating physicians thoroughly
understand the Onyx system.” TAC Y 53 (emphasisediyld This is
consistent with the labeling approved by the FDAiah states that the
device “should be usednly by physicians with neurointerventional
training,” and whilecalling attention tahe EV3 training program, does not
require a surgeon implanting the device to haveeived Onyxspecific
training from EV3.1d. {1 98.

8 The TACnotesthat EV3’s sales quotas for Onyx were seven times
the estimated total market, even if it is assurttreat sale®f Onyxcaptured
100% of the procedures for which the device wasdated (in other words,
$1.2Mof the $1.4M sales quota could only be attributatoleff-label uses
of Onyx). Id. 1 110. Defendants do not dispute the fact thatadfel uses of
Onyx made up a significant portion of its sales.



Scientific used the material tmanufactureEnteryx, which wasapproved
by the FDA in April of 2003 forthe treatment ofgastroesophagnl reflux
disease (GERD). Enteryx is injected irto the musculaturebelow the
esophagus where it solidiB¢o create a partial barrigareventingthe reflux
of stomach acid.According to theTAC, in some cases physiciamgecting
Enteryx missed the esophageahusculature risking potentially fatal
complications.® D’Agostino argues that because of theintimate
associations among EV&Enteric, Boston Scientific, MTI, andovidien
(fosteredby the hiring of senior executives by one compamyf another),
EV3 beas responsibilityfor failing to alert the FDA during the Onyx
approval procesdo problems being encountered by physiciamsing
Enteryx: EV3 “was representing to the FDA that Onyx was safeilgjlthe
same molecule, in the forof Enteryx, was killingpeople.” TAC 82.

2. Training Program Used to Drive Off-Label Sales

The TAC describesa surgical training program in which, after a
physician was traineth the use of Onyx, EV3vould supplyOnyx to any
hospitalfacility at which the physician haddmitting privileges These

included facilitiesthat hadno surgeons on staffith practices requiringhe

9Theseincludethe accidental introduction of the padly solidifying
liguid Onyx into the aorta, the body’s largest aytewhich lies close to the
esophagus.



on-labeluse of Onyx The TAC further allegeshat EV3 paid physicians to
conduct Onyxtraining for other physicianswhich sometimes included
trainingin off-label uses.Becausevascular “holes’in areasbelow the neck
(the periphery are typically muchlarger than those in the brajnmore
Onyxisrequired to plug thenthusmaking offlabelusesmore lucrativefor
EV3. This recognition, accordingo the TAC,led EV3 to ramp up the
dissemination to physicians offormation promoting Onyx’s offabel use
An examplegiven by theTAC is a 2008 EV3 national sales meetirag
which National Marketing Manager (and former defendavitps Sipelis
discused case reportavolving the use of Onyx iperipheral vasculature
surgical interventionswhile at the same timeirging sales staff to [g]et
users to think about additiondloff-label] applications (i.e [dural
areteriovenous fistulag)AVFs).” TAC 1120.

3. Filing of False Claims

Inpatient and outpatient hospital treatmerbceduresfor eligible
patientsarepaid byMedicaresubject to theondition that the treatment is
certified to bemedically reasonable and necess®&ryReimbursement is at

the rates establishedby the Diagnosis Related Group (DRG) dhe

101n cases in which a physician bills separatelydas or her services
in performing an eligible procedurége or shemustalso certify that the
care provided was medically indicated and necessary



Ambulatory Payment Classificatioras appropriateAlthough the cost of a
medical device is not billed directly thledicare the hospitalultimately
recoves the cost 6 the device indirectly by way of thefixed aggregate
reimbursement rates.Where the actual cost of particularprocedure
exceedsthe fixed limit, the hospitalis permitted tobill Medicare for the
additional cost (a scalled “outlier paymeriy}.

D'’Agostino maintains that all off-label use of Onyx were
“affrmatively unsafe, ineffectiveand hazardous to patient hegtthand
thatconsequently, aliclaims which fall into this category were false der
the FCA” Id. § 181. While Medicare is proHiited from reimbursing
hospitals or physician®r unapproved device@nlessthey arepart of an
FDA-authorized clinical trial), see 42 C.F.R § 411.15(¢) D’Agostino
acknowledges that Onyx waBDA-approved (and therefore Medicare
eligible). Nonetheless D’Agostino argues that because dfendants
fraudulently inducedthe FDA to grant approval forOnyx, all off-label

reimbursementlaimsweretainted as a result As suggestedn the TAC,

1The TAC describes two incidents in which emboliratiof a dural
fistulae failed leadingin one of the instances$o the patient’spermanent
impairment. The TAC alleges that the surgeon ie fhtter case had
attended an EV3 training session promoting theladfel use of Onyx to
treat dural fistulasometwo weeks prior to the failed operationfTAC {1
203-205.



‘Ih]ad the FDA known what MTI was planninigy probably would not have
granted approval. TAC § 189 (emphasis adde#)
B. Axium

Axium is an embolization coil edached to a delivery pusher equipped
with a manual deder. A surgeon threads the coil into the positain
which he or she wishes to promotlee formation of an embolus, and then
detaches the coil and removes the pushé&irst marketed in 200 Axium
was developed with the intent of embolizing intracial aneurysms and
other neurovascular anomadie

1. Axium Defects

The TAC alleges thatEV3 unnecessarily hurriedhe development of
Axium, resulting in the launching of a product th'atas not adequately
designed, was not properly manufactured, and wassafe for use Id. |
216. During the first year followinghe launch the device was modified
‘more than a half dozen timédo correctproblems encountered during
surgeries |d. According to theTAC, EV3 actively explored ways of

minimizing losses on the recall &arlier iterations of Axium As an

12The TAC also alleges that because-latiel procedures using Onyx
as an agent of embolization are more expensive &sfopm than
conventional embolization in the peripheral vastuta, “there is a
substantial likelihood that government payers incurred gsificant
additonal reimbursement requestsl’AC {1 207208 (emphasis added).



example, thelAC cites an internal EV3 email from National Manadéred
Gundermanto EV3 executiveswritten after generaon 1E of Axium was
marketed3 Seeid. § 232. The emailin discussing the need withdraw
the earliergenerations 1through 1B from the markaiggestedrading out
generationslC and 1D<7mmfor the more expensive version 1E to recoup
losses ortherecalledunits. 1d. The email also discussale possibility of
selling thesuperannuategrior generations into the peripheral markét
Id.

The TAC notes that Dr StephenOhki at Hartford Hospital in
Connecticutreported an Axium coil dadiment failure in late 2008hat
“led to a negative outcome for the patiéntd. 246 In October 2009Dr.
Ohki reported a similar problem with another Axium coil. When
D'Agostino was asked byartford Hospitalslegal departmentfor an

internalreporton the failures, he conacted EV3s engineering department

13 Axium 1E continued to have detachment problems ilegd
successively to the 1F and Axium Prime models.

14 Like Onyx, Axium was intended for vasculature tma&nts in the
brain. While the TAC is coy on the issue of whetla@arything ever came of
the email discussion, D’Agostino alleges that samteer generation Axium
devices were shipped back to EV3 where they weebranded and
remarketed under the name Concerto. D'Agostconcedes that the FDA
approved Concerto for use in treatments of vasautatdiseases in the
peripheral region.

10



D’Agostino was told that coils were failing to teech properlybecauseof a
manufacturing error (ovewelding), caused by laser welder being set to
hot.” Id. f 248.

The TAC recites allegednanufacturing defectm other versions of
Axium, includinginstances ofa malformed retainer ring caused by worn
manufacturinggequipmentand a welding error that resultedamimproper
coupling ofthe detachment wire to the inner wall of theoil. 1d. 1 249
250. While detadiment failures could beremedied by secondary
detacdhment methods (such as tugging on the device witbrceps) these
also entailedisks to patientd> The TAC alleges hatover time“thousands
of Axium coils” were not manufactured in accordanegh current Good
Manufacturing Practice regulations and therefgualified as adulterated
productsunder heFederalFood Drug, and Cosmetics Act of 1938 (FDCA).
Id. § 256. Moreover,becausahe Axium coils wereallegedlyhazardous to
patients when used as directe®’Agostino argues thatthey were

misbranded uder FDCA8502(j). Id. 1 257 Becauséf{a] device which is

15 According to the TAC, instead of recalling the detfee devices,
EV3’'s management decided to instruct sales stat#frtiphasize the usd o
the secondary/ manual detachment method of overcgmirdetachment
failure, but to avoid mentioning the use of forceppstorque devices as it
was thought that the disclosure might draw negasaittntion from the
FDA. 1d. 1 253.

11



adulterated, misbrandedr dangerous. . . cannot be‘reasonable and
necessary (and thereforeMedicarereimbursablg D’Agostino contends
thatby knowindy selling defective Axium coils}EV3 caused hospitals and
physcians to submit false claims” in violation of tieCA. 1d. {1 258 259.

2. Axium Adverse Event Reporting

The TAC alleges that EV3s investigations into adverse events
involving Axium were “often bogus, blaming the problem on g¥kmg but
the defectiveproduct” 1d. § 2661 By minimizing Axium’s role in causing
“‘hundreds” of adverse evenisD’Agostino arguesthat EV3 avoided its
obligation to file Medical Device Reports with thDA, and rad the FDA
been aware of E3s misfeasance“it would haverecalled the devices, or
greatly restrictedhte instructions foftheir] use” Id. § 271 As with Onyx,
D'’Agostino maintains thatin the case of Axium(defendantsinduced
“‘hospitals and physicians to certify . . . that the metigeoducts . . .
provided to patients were in compliance with apapllie statutes [and]
regulationg’ and that such certifications “were falgjebecause EV3 was not
in statuory or regulatory compliance Id. § 272. In other words EV3 was

marketingmedicaldevices thatvere eligible for Medicarereimbursement

16 D’Agostino claimsthat he personally “wrote very detailed adverse
event reports, including such details as physicia@ing forced to use pliers
and other torque devices . . .Id. 269 (which were presumably ignored
by EV3).

12



only because the governmerdid not know ‘“the truth about these
products” 1d. | 272.
C. Procedural Background

D’Agostino filed this qui tam action under seah October 26, 2010,
with EV3 as the solmameddefendant. D’Agostino amended tleiginal
complaintas a matter of righon February 3, 2011, adding individual
defendants John Cubelic, John Hardand Vitas Sipelis. D’Agostino
sought and was granted permission to amendCdmplaint two additional
times while the caseemainedunder seal. On October2013, the United
States filed a notice declining to intervene, btdted thatits investigation
was ongoing. The tweniyix namedplaintiff Statesand the District of
Columbia filed a Notice of Noiintervention on December 19, 2013 he
court unsealed the case on December 26, 2013.TAawvas filed on April
28, 2014 with the cours permission addingdefendants MTI and Brett
Wall. EV3, MTI, and the individual defendants filenotions to dismiss the
TAC on June 30, 2014. D’Agostino voluntarily dismisskefendants John
Cubelic and Vitas Sipelis with prejudice on July,2®14. The court heard
argumets onthe remaining defendants’ motions to dismissSaptember
2,2014.

DISCUSSION

13



“FCA liability attaches to any individual who knowingly presents, or
causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent diaimpayment or approval,’
31U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1)(A), or knowingly makes, usescauses to be made
or used, a false record or statement materialfedse or fraudulent claim,’
8§ 3729(a)(1)(B).”United States ex rel. Hutcheson v. Blackstone Med., Inc.,
647 F.3d 377380 n.3 (1st Cir. 2011). “For pypmoses of both subsections,
{a] person acts knowingly’ if he or she (1) haactual knowledge of the
information; (2) acts in deliberate ignorance oéttruth or falsity of the
information; or (3) acts in reckless disregard loé ttruth or falsity of the
information.” United States ex rel. Dyer v. Raytheon Co., 2011 WL
3294489, at *6 (D. Mass. July 29, 2011), quotidgtcheson, 647 F.3d at
380; see also Allison Engine Co. v. United States ex rel. Sanders, 553 U.S.
662, 672673 (2008) (the elements of &CA claim require proof that a
defendant knew, as a “natural, ordinary and reabmeonsequencel]” of
its acts, that false claims would be submitted bhe tgovernment for
payment). The statute further prohibits “conspir[acies] tofréeid the
Governmenby gettinga false or fraudulent claim allowed or paidJhited
States ex. rel. Gagne v. City of Worcester, 565 F.3d 40, 42 ¢1Cir. 2009)
Allison Engine, 533U.S.at672 Personavho violate the FCA are liable for

civil penalties and double or trebl@amagesplus the costgincluding

14



attorney’s fees)incurred in bringing thequi tam action 31 U.S.C.8§
3729(a)R)-(3).
1. Public Disclosure Bar

“The threshold question in a False Claims Act c&sevhether the
statute bars jurisdiction.United Statesex rel. Rost v. Pfizer, Inc.,, 507 F.3d
720, 727 (1st Cir. 2007) overruled in part on other grounds by Allison
Engine, 553 U.S. 662 The Public Disclosure Barassetout in 31 U.S.C. §
3730(e)(4), provides:

(A) The court shall dismiss aaction or claim under this
section, unless opposed by the Government, if sautislly

the same allegations or transactions as allegetamaction or
claim were publicly disclosed

(i) in a Federal criminal, civil, or administrativeearing
in which the Government or its agent is a party;

(i) in a congressional, Governmefdcountability Office,
or other Federal report, hearing, audit, or ingstion;
or

(i) from the news mediaynless the action is brought by
the Attorney General or the persbninging the action is
an original source of the information.

(B) For purposes of this paragraph, “original s@minmeans an
individual who either (i) prior to a public disclose under
subsection (e)(4)(a), has voluntarily disclosed tbe
Government the information on which allegations or
transactions in a claim are based, or (2) who haswtedge
that is independent of and materially adds to thiblgly
disclosed allegations or transactions, and whovodsntarily

15



provided the information to the Government befal@d an
action under this section.

A multi-parttestis used tadecidewhether the Public Disclosure Bar
applies See United Statesex rel. Ondisv. City of Woonsocket, 587 F.349,
53 (1st Cir. 2009) United States ex rel. Poteet v. Bahler Med. Inc., 619 F.3d
104, 109(1stCir. 2010. The court must determine:

(1) whether there has been public disclosure of the
allegationsor transactions in the relator’s complaint;

(2) if so, whether the public disclosure occurredthe
manner specified in the statute;

(3) if so, whether the relator’s suit is “based aupohose
publicly disclosed allegations or transactions; and

(4) if the answers to these questions are in tfieraative,

whether the relator falls within the *“original saer

exception as defined in § 3730(e)(4)(B).
Rost, 507 F.3dat 728. “For the purpose of the FCA, public disclosure
occurs when the essential elements exposing thacpéar transaction as
fraudulent find their way into the public domdinOndis, 587 F.3dat 54.
“[T]he disclosure must reveal both the misrepresémndtate of facts and the
true state of facts so that the inference of fraualy be drawn.”ld., quoting

United States ex rel. Mistick PBT v. Hous. Auth. of Pittsburgh, 186 F.3d

376, 385 (3d Cir1999. “The two states of facts may come from different

16



sources, as long as the disclosures together leadplausible inference of
fraud” Ondis, 587 F.3d at 547

With respect to thefraudon-the-FDA allegations regarding the
approval of Onyx, dfendants raise thleublic Disclosure Bararguing that
D'Agostino’s allegations are based on materiddat had beempreviously
disclosedto the FDA While defendants do not argue that a direct
allegation of fraud waa matter of publicecord they rely on the fact that
“both [the allegedly] misrepresented state of facts and a atate of facts
[were in the public realm$o thatthe. . .reader[had the neans toJinfer
fraud.” Poteet, 619 F.3d at 110

The essential allegations of thRAC with regard to Onyx andhe
alleged fraudon-the-FDA are: @) that MTI fraudulently omitted safety
information pertaining to Enteryx (2) that MTI fraudulently
misrepresentedhe substance dhe training progranthatit proposedto
provide for Onyx usersand(3) thatMTI concealedts intentionto market

Onyxfor uses other thathe treatment oBAVM .

171n Poteet, the First @cuit notedthat thePublic Disclosure Bawas
“‘designed to preclude qui tam suits based on infoiion that would have
been equally available to strangers to the fraad $action had they chosen
to look for it.” Poteet, 619 F.3d at 110

17



With respect tdEnteryx,the TACcontrastsMTIl's submissions tdhe
FDA and the FDAadvisory panel during the Onyx approval processhwit
the FDA's internal records concerning safety issu@ssociatedwith
Enteryx. By citing extensively from the publiclyailable FDA documents,
the TAC itself establisheghe first element othe Public Disclosure Bar
underRost.’8 As the FDAwas the source dfoth sets ofpublicrecords the
second pron@f the Rost testis alsomet Finally, D’Agostino does not(by
definition) qualify as an“original source’of the Enteryx disclosuregs he
did not provide the FDAwith the safety information concerning Enteryx.
Consequently the Enteryx akgations are precluded bythe Public
Disclosure Bar

The same is true with respect to the Omnadning programthat was
ultimately instituted by EV3 The court is constrained to accept the TAC's
version of the programsthe oneactuallyimplementedprovidingtraining

per site rather than per physicianBut see fn. 7, supra. Nonethelessas

18 For example, D'Agostinoguotesfrom the Onyx FDA Preclinical
Review, showing the link between Onyx and Entergrnd reproduces a
passage fronFDA Patient Safety Alert #32, October 2004, detaylithe
death of a patient who had undergoneatment with Endryx. TAC | 64
63. In addition, D’Agostino references reportsnrohe FDA adverse event
reporting systemid. 1 61 n.4) and the FDA recall notification for Enyer
dated October 14, 20034d. {1 65. Based on his analysis of FDA published
records, D’Agpstino concludeghat none of the dangers of Enteryx were
effectively communicated to the FDA regulators ddesing the Onyx
application.

18



defendants notea recordof MTI's promise to the advisory paneto
implement an“all physiciarf training programwas placed in the public
domain (first prong) by the FDA (second pronghnd becausethe
disclosurs were madepublic beforeD’Agostinobegan hissmploymentat
EV3, he could not have beenther original source (third prong)
Consequently the court lacks jurisdiction over théraining program
allegations byperation othePublic Disclosure Bar

With respect to thefinal allegation that MTI misrepresentedhe
breadth ofits off-label marketingplans with respect to Onyxthe court
agrees with D’Agostino that th@ublic Disclosure Bardoes not divest
jurisdiction. While the purported misrepresentatiorwas clearly in the
public domain, the facts from which the existendeaofraud might be
inferred were drawn from D’Agostino’s experienceas a senior sales
manager for EV3. Consequently, thecourt will considerthe oftlabel
marketingallegationsalong with D’Agostino’s argument that Onyx was not
Medicarereimbursablebecause ofa lack of medical reasonablersesnd
necessityon their merits'®

2. Failure to Plead with Specificity and Particularity
Required Under Rule 9(b)

19 Defendants do not raise thHaublic Disclosure Bawith respect to
this latter allegation.

19



The strict pleading requirements of Fed. R. CivOFh) apply to an

FCA qui tam action.See U.S. ex rel. Karvelas v. Melrose-Wakefield Hosp.,
360 F.3d 220, 228 (1st Cir. 2004)Qui tam relators bringing an action
under theFalse Claims Act are required to set forth with tpararly the
“who, what, when, where, and how’ of the allegedud” United States ex
rel. Gev. Takeda Pharm. Co. Ltd., 737 F.3d 116, 123 (1st Cir. 2013), quoting
United States ex rel. Walsh v. Eastman Kodak Co., 98 F.Supp.2d 141, 147
(D. Mass. 2000).

[D]etails concerning the dates of the claims, the eont

of the forms or bills submitted, their identificati

numbers, the amount of money charged to the

government, the particular goods or services foiicwh

the government was billed, the individuals inwed in

the billing, and the length of time between thezgdd

fraudulent practices and the submission of clairaseul

on those practices are the types of informatiort thay

help a relator to state his or her claims with

particularity. These details daot constitute a checklist

of mandatory requirements that must be satisfied by

each allegation included in a complairHowever. . . we

believe thatsome of this information for at least some of

the claims must be pleaded in order to satisfy k8.
Karvelas, 360 F.3dat 233(internal citations and quotations omittedh a
qui tam action in which the defendant is allegedhiave induced third
parties to file false claims with the governmentgéator can satisftherule
requiring fraudto be pled with particularity by “providindgfactual or

statistical evidence to strengthen the inferenc&add beyond possibility

20



without necessarily providing details as to eadedalaim.”Ge, 737 F.3dat
123-124, quotingUnited States ex rel. Duxbury v. Ortho Biotech Prods.,
L.P.,, 579 F.3d 3, 29 (1st Cir. 2009). There is, however, an important
caveat: “[A] per se rule that if sufficient allegations of miscct are
made, it necessarily follows that false claims amrrd/material false
information were filed. . .. [would violate] the specificity requirements of
Rule 9(b)” Ge, 737F.3dat 124.

a. Onyx

With respect tothe marketing ofOnyx, D'’Agostino fails to even
approximatehelevel of particularityrequired to satisfy Rule 9(bequired
by the First Circuitin Karvelas, Ge, and Duxbury. D’Agostino theorizes
that becauseOnyx should not have been approveylthe FDAIn the first
instanceor, alternaively, because ishould have been withdrawn from the
market or placed under mosgringent controls (by EV3 or the FDAalI
reimbursementlaims forthe use ofOnyx must bedeemedcategorically
false. While the TAC specifiestwo adverseincidentsattributed to Onyx,
TAC 11 203-205, anyidentification of the sugeors or facility involved is

missing any description of amnonetary loss to the governmenwisitted,20

20 While D'Agostino alleges that Onyx claims inflatedRG
reimbursement requesthereby increasing the cost to the government, at
no pointdoesthe TAC givethe factualdetails of any specific claim, any

21



and there is no allegation that a claim for paym@alse or otherwise) was
presented to any government payer as a result tbkeeiof thealleged
incidents The conclusory allegatiobhat “hundreds of similar incidents
must haveoccurredandthatsome of thesenust have cost the government
moneyis illustrative ofthe kind of opportunistic pleading that Rule 9(b) i
designed tgprevent See ld. 11206, 271 Moreover,D’Agostino’s theory
that “every claim paid by the government which involved thee of Onyx
violated the FCA fits precisely in the legadrgumentdisguisedasfact
category thathe First Circuit flatly rejected iGe. 22 Oppn atl7 (emphasis
added).

b. AXium

descriptionof how DRG rates were impacted by Ongny specific outlier
claimsinvolving Onyx or any details of claims for ofbel use of Onyx that
might show how the costs were inflated with respecalternative omon-
conventional treatments.

21ln contradiction with this theory, D’Agostino argsielsewhere that
he

does not assert that [the Centers for Medicare Eredicaid

Services] would not reimburse for an Onrlyased procedure
conducted by a neurosurgeon that has specificallgengone
the training mandated through the FDA approval pssc
(except to the extent that the fraud on the FDA woluddre kept
Onyx off the market altogether).

Oppn at 21.
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While theTAC contains little that can be read th® kind ofparticular
pleadingthat satisfiesthe criteria identified inKarvelas or Ge,22in his
Consolidated Opposition D’Agostino attempts to collatedisparate
allegationsin the TAC under the hadings“Who, “What, “When” and
“How.” Id. at 912. In the summary under “Who” (which also attempts to
fulfill the role of “where”), D’Agostino cites sikiospitals named in the TAC
as sources of false claim®©nly one of these, however, is linked to Axium.
Although a specific physician is mentioned, thesend allegation that any
claim was submitted to a government payeim the discussion under
“What,” D’Agostino simply alleges a legal conclusiothat because Axium
was knowingly sold as a defective and misbrandedicge it was not
medically necessary. The category of‘When” receivesan even more
conclusorytreatment. D’Agostino statesin his ConsolidatedOpposition
that the Axium device was defective from the tiheas first placedn the
market. In effect, the answeto the question “When?appears to be
“Always.” This court has previously ruled thiais impermissible to assume

that any claim in a date range ,ispso facto, false simply becausesome

22 While D’Agostino makes general allegations linkindefective
Axium coils with false claims, the only details efed are those concerning
Dr. Ohki's patients. However, it is not alleged in thAC that a claim for
reimbursement for the treatment provided to eitbethese patients was
ever submitted to Medicare.
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intermittent device failures were identified See United States ex rel.
Provuncher v. Angioscore, Inc., 2012 WL 3144885at *1-2 (D. Mass. Aug.
3, 2012). The “How” element isquallylacking in specifics. Here a@ain,
D’Agostino returns to hisoverarching theory of total falseness as a
substitute for specific and particular examplesfalse claims. Finally,
D'Agostino’s arguments thatall Axium claims are false because they
contributedindirectly to inflated Medicare costsare cut from the gae
cloth asthe Onyx allegationsin sum, theTAC fails to satisfy the Rule 9(b)
criteria mandated biarvelasandGe.

3. Failureto State a Claim Under Rule 12(b)(6)

In addition tofalling short ofRule 9(b), the TAGloes notsurvive a
Rule 12(b)(6) analysis*To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must
contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as trtoestate a claim to relief
that is plausible on its face.Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662678 (2009)
(internal citations and quotations omitted). “Whd complaint daaded by
a Rule 12(b)(6) motionto dismiss does not need detailed factual
allegations, a plaintiffs obligation to provide d@h‘grounds’ of his
‘entitle[ment] to relief requires more than labedsnd conclusions, and a
formulaic recitation of the elements of a causaadifon will not do” Bell

Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 5552007) (internal citations
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omitted). See also Rodriguez-Ortizv. Margo Caribe, Inc., 490 F.3d 92, 95
96 (1st Cir. 2007).

In broad generalizations, D'Agostino alleges ththiAzium deviceson
the market were defective and therefore, any claim for Medicare
reimbursement involvingAxium was false. With regard to Onyx,
D’Agostino returns repeatdd to the theme that, but for defendants’
misrepresentationshe FDA would not have approved Onyx the first
instance In another iteration of this argument, D’Agostinpesulates that
had the FDA known of all of the alleged hidden defects it would have
withdrawnits approvalof Onyxor orderedts recall

The FDA is charged with the difficult task of batang the risk and
benefits of placing drugs and medical deviceson the market and
D’Agostino in effect is asking tis court tousurp theFDA and assuméhat
function. D’Agostino proposes, in the guise# an FCA action, thathis
court reevaluatgears offFDA decisions concerning the approval or recall of
EV3’'s medical device. The FCA is a vehicle for rooting out undetected
financial fraud against the federal governmeéwmtgiving generous financial
incentives to insider whistleblowerg is not a substitute for the certiorari
review of discretionary decisions taken by the FDA the area of

competence delegated to it by Congress
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In this latter regard, there is a weltablished regulatorgath for
bringing medical devicegas well as new drugso clinical trials on an
investigational basjsand if the benefits of the device are determined to
outweigh itspotential risksto placeit in the stream of commerceThere
are alsowell-establishedegal, regulatoryand administrativanechanisms
for managing the risks and benefitstbédeviceas it is further tested in the
markeplace While the FDA expects and requires goofhith and
responsibldehavior from participants in thadinical reviewand marketing
processs it also has sigiicant administrative sanctioand enforcement
powers, as well as an Office of Criminal Investigas empowered to refer
cases to the &partment of Justiclr prosecution. Perfecting the science
of threading tity tubes inside the human skull toeat vascular defects
requires a acute level of medical judgment that well beyondthat
possessed by most courts, lawyers, and medicalkdesalespesons In
short, an FCA action is ndhe appropriate venue for thisourt to exercise
its jJudgmentin secondguessing decisions taken by the FDA in approving
the use of medical devices simply becausegtnernment happens to pay
for some of them.

ORDER
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For the foregoing reasondgefendang EV3, MTI, John Hardin and
Brett Walls Motions to Dismissare ALLOWED. The Clerk will enter the
dismissalswith prejudiceand close the case

SO ORDERED.

/s/Richard G. Stearns
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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